

HART STUDIES IN PRIVATE LAW

JUSTICE IN PRIVATE LAW

Peter Jaffey

JUSTICE IN PRIVATE LAW

This book discusses the dominant corrective justice and distributive justice approaches to private law and identifies their strengths and weaknesses. It goes on to propose a general approach to private law, including contract, tort and private property, and explains how this approach can provide solutions to some longstanding problems.

Two general ideas inform this approach: the 'standpoint limitation' and 'remedial consistency'. The standpoint limitation explains the distinctive character of private law, that is to say why it is focused mainly, though not exclusively, on particular individual interests rather than the common welfare. Remedial consistency explains the way in which remedies depend on and give effect to primary rights.

The book also discusses the nature of common law legal reasoning and its relationship to the suggested understanding of private law.

Volume 43 in the series Hart Studies in Private Law

ii

Justice in Private Law

Peter Jaffey

 $\bullet \underset{\text{oxford} \cdot \text{london} \cdot \text{new york} \cdot \text{new delhi} \cdot \text{sydney}}{\text{ford} \cdot \text{london} \cdot \text{new york} \cdot \text{new delhi} \cdot \text{sydney}}$

HART PUBLISHING

Bloomsbury Publishing Plc

Kemp House, Chawley Park, Cumnor Hill, Oxford, OX2 9PH, UK

1385 Broadway, New York, NY 10018, USA

29 Earlsfort Terrace, Dublin 2, Ireland

HART PUBLISHING, the Hart/Stag logo, BLOOMSBURY and the Diana logo are trademarks of Bloomsbury Publishing Plc

First published in Great Britain 2023

Copyright © Peter Jaffey, 2023

Peter Jaffey has asserted his right under the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988 to be identified as Author of this work.

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or any information storage or retrieval system, without prior permission in writing from the publishers.

While every care has been taken to ensure the accuracy of this work, no responsibility for loss or damage occasioned to any person acting or refraining from action as a result of any statement in it can be accepted by the authors, editors or publishers.

All UK Government legislation and other public sector information used in the work is Crown Copyright ©. All House of Lords and House of Commons information used in the work is Parliamentary Copyright ©. This information is reused under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0 (http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/ open-government-licence/version/3) except where otherwise stated.

> All Eur-lex material used in the work is © European Union, http://eur-lex.europa.eu/, 1998–2023.

A catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library.

A catalogue record for this book is available from the Library of Congress.

ISBN:	HB:	978-1-50995-388-2
	ePDF:	978-1-50995-390-5
	ePub:	978-1-50995-389-9

Typeset by Compuscript Ltd, Shannon

To find out more about our authors and books visit www.hartpublishing.co.uk. Here you will find extracts, author information, details of forthcoming events and the option to sign up for our newsletters.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am grateful to the Leverhulme Trust for the award of a Major Research Fellowship 2020–22, which enabled me to write this book (and to avoid online teaching through the Covid lockdown).

Some of the ideas and arguments in the book are drawn from earlier work (as cited). Some paragraphs from 'Policy and Principle and the Character of Private Law' (2020) 11 *Jurisprudence* 387, available at https://www.tandfonline.com/, are reproduced in Chapter 6, for which I acknowledge permission from the publishers Taylor & Francis.

I presented some material from the book to the Private Law Research Cluster at Leicester Law School in October 2022, and at a Law School Research Seminar at Bristol Law School in November 2022. I am grateful to the participants for their comments. I am also grateful to Francois Du Bois, Greg Allan, Alison Slade, Patrick Masiyakurima, Paula Giliker and John Murphy for reading and commenting on parts of the book.

I would like to thank the staff of Hart Publishing for their work in bringing the book to publication.

Finally, as ever I would like to thank my family.

vi

CONTENTS

Aci	knowledgements	<i>v</i>
Ab	breviations	xi
1.	Introduction	1
	Private Law	
	The Characteristic Features of Traditional Private Law	1
	Bilateral Relations	2
	Primary and Remedial Relations	
	Remedies not Sanctions (or Other Non-remedial Responses)	4
	Objectivity	5
	Focus on the Particular Parties	5
	Private Law as Common Law	6
	The Corrective Justice and Distributive Justice Approaches	7
	Justice in Private Law	8
2.	Private Law Theory	
	Introduction	
	Moral and Socio-legal Theories of Law	11
	The Internal Approach	13
	Justice in Private Law	17
3.	Remedial Justice and the Structure of Private Law	
	Introduction	
	Enforcement	
	Compensation for Wrongs	
	Primary Liabilities and Primary Duties	
	Remedial Consistency	
	Consistency Over Time and Remedial Consistency	
	Remedies and Sanctions	
	Remedial Consistency and 'Free-standing' Remedies	
	Remedial Consistency and Alternative Remedies	
	Summary	
4.	The Distributive Justice Approach	
	Distributive Justice and Interactions	
	The Distributive Justice Approach	
	Does Distributive Justice Apply to Interactions?	
	Can Distributive Justice Explain Private Law?	44

	Negligence	
	EAL	
	Alleviation of Hardship	
	Policy Reasoning Over the Duty of Care	
	Contract	
	The Power to Make an Agreement	52
	Bilateral Rights and Remedies	
	Limited Recognition of Distributive Justice	54
	The Remedial Regime	
	Conclusion	60
5.	The Corrective Justice Approach	62
	Introduction	
	Some Problems with the Corrective Justice Account of Negligence	65
	Negligence as Wrongdoing	
	The Focus on the Parties	
	The Standard of Care	
	Policy and the 'Duty of Care'	
	Other Wrongs	
	Some Problems with the Corrective Justice Account of Contract	
	The Moral Power to Undertake a Duty	
	Non-intention Based Aspects of Contract	
	The Remedial Problem in Contract	
	Focus on the Particular Parties	
	A Systemic Problem for the Corrective Justice Approach	
	Conclusion	
	Conclusion	83
6.	Distributive Justice under the Standpoint Limitation	
	Introduction	
	The Standpoint Limitation	
	The Standpoint Limitation by Comparison with Legislation	86
	Private Law as Distributive Justice under the Standpoint Limitation	
	Institutional Constraints	92
	Statutory Private Law	94
7.	Negligence under the Standpoint Limitation	96
	The Character of Negligence	
	Standard of Care	
	Negligence and Strict Liability	
	Vicarious Liability	
	Insurance	
	The Duty of Care and Pure Economic Loss	

	Causation and 'Scope of Duty'	106
	Provision of Benefits	110
	Liability of Public Authorities	111
	Statutory Reform	113
8.	Contract Law under the Standpoint Limitation	114
0.	Introduction	
	The Character of Contract Law	
	Bilateral Relations	
	Substantive Fairness	
	Protection against Substantive Unfairness	
	The Remedial Regime	
	Objective Agreement and Implied Terms	
	Imputed Contracts	
	Statutory Regulation of Contract	
9.	Property Rights and Remedial Consistency	131
	Introduction	
	Remedial Consistency and Claims to Protect Property	
	Compensation and the Measure of Loss	
	Restitution	
	Licence Fee Damages	
	Specific Enforcement	
	Objects of Property and Property Rights	
	The Right of Control Approach	
	Personal Rights as Objects of Property	141
	The Trust	143
	Proprietary Claims and Tracing	145
	Restitution of Money Payments	146
	Summary	148
10.	Private Property and the Standpoint Limitation	
	Introduction	
	The Distributive Justice Approach	149
	The Corrective Justice Approach	153
	Distributive Justice Subject to the Standpoint Limitation	155
	The Private Property Principle at Common Law	155
	The Unbroken Chain Problem	
	What can be an Object of Property?	
	The Property Regime: Types of Property Right	
	Nuisance	
	Statutory Regulation and Compulsory Purchase	163

x Contents

11.	Legal Reasoning in the Common Law	
	Introduction	
	Law as Binding Rules	
	The Holistic Approach	
	Comparing the Two Approaches	
	The Standpoint Limitation in the Common Law	
	Remedial Consistency in the Common Law	176
12.	How to Understand Private Law	
Ind	ex	

ABBREVIATIONS

- EAL economic analysis of law
- MTL moral theory of law
- STL socio-legal theory of law

xii

Private Law

Private law is the law applicable as between individuals, by which one person enforces a legal right against another through civil proceedings. The main areas are contract, tort and private property: in contract, rights arising from agreements for the exchange of goods or services for payment; in tort, rights with respect to harm to or interference with person or property, including inadvertent harm in negligence; and, in private property, rights with respect to things, including land, personal property, and, it is widely thought, intangible property, including intellectual property and money. By virtue of these bilateral legal rights, an 'interaction' between individuals, such as a contract or the failure to perform a contract, or an accident, or a transfer of property, can have the legal effect of creating a new bilateral right, including a remedial right or claim, usually a claim for compensation. Thus one can also say that private law is the law of interactions between individuals.

There are two rival schools of thought in the literature on private law, which I shall refer to as the corrective justice and distributive justice approaches. On the corrective justice approach, the bilateral legal relations of private law are based exclusively on the bilateral or interpersonal moral rights of the parties to an interaction: the claimant (C) and the defendant (D). On the distributive justice approach, the justification of private law is in the contribution it makes to justice with respect to benefits and harms of people across society. The standard though not the only version of the distributive justice approach is the 'economic analysis of law' (EAL), which holds that private law should serve to maximise the aggregate welfare or net benefit associated with interactions. In this book, I assess the strengths and weaknesses of the corrective justice and distributive justice approaches, and then I suggest a new approach.

The Characteristic Features of Traditional Private Law

It is helpful to begin with the distinctive features of what one might describe as 'traditional private law'. It may be open to question whether these features continue to characterise private law and whether they ought to, but describing them is a good way to outline the subject matter and the issues that divide the opposing

theoretical approaches. The corrective justice approach appears to provide a better account of these characteristic features than the distributive justice approach, though as considered further in chapter two this is not necessarily the crucial issue in evaluating them.

Bilateral Relations

Private law establishes bilateral legal relations between two parties, C and D. As conventionally understood, these bilateral relations consist of a right of C against D and a correlative duty owed by D to C. The relation is correlative in the sense that C's right and D's duty are the same thing expressed from opposite viewpoints: one can describe the law equivalently in terms of C's right and D's duty. In contract, C's right to performance of the contract by D is correlated with a duty on D's part to provide the performance, and in negligence C has a right to a certain standard of care by D, and D has a correlative duty to meet the standard for C's benefit. In property law, the owner C has a right against interference with C's use and possession of the property and D has a correlative duty not to commit such interference.

On the traditional understanding associated with the corrective justice approach, the bilateral rights of private law are apt because they represent 'justice as between the parties' or interpersonal justice. The bilateral relations are a natural feature of private law in the sense that they reflect and give effect to underlying interpersonal moral rights of the parties to the dispute. For some commentators at least, on the corrective justice approach private law is a manifestation or extension of the ordinary personal morality that governs personal and social interactions between individuals.¹ For example, the rationale of the law of negligence is to give effect to the moral right of C against D not to be harmed by D's negligent conduct.

By contrast, on the distributive justice approach, private law is concerned with justice with respect to benefits and harms across society as a whole. The rationale of the law of negligence is to reduce the damage or injury caused by accidents in society, or to spread losses across society to reduce the burden imposed on particular individuals (or some such public or societal purpose). The bilateral legal rights of the parties do not represent justice as between the parties or interpersonal moral rights. Rather than being a necessary and intrinsic feature of private law, they are a device for promoting a societal purpose to which the parties' own interests may be incidental. It would seem that bilateral legal rights have come to be recognised only because the law developed through civil proceedings between the parties to an interaction. This approach is at odds with the traditional understanding of private law and may favour departures from traditional private law. Indeed the implication is that the objectives of private law might often be better achieved through a different sort of legal regime that does not take the form of bilateral relations enforced through civil proceedings, for example a regime that provides

¹See J Gardner, From Personal Life to Private Law (Oxford University Press, 2018).

for compensation for accidents through a compensation fund or even government allocation of goods and services rather than private exchange by contract.

Conventionally the bilateral relation is understood to consist of C's right correlated with a duty on the part of D, and accordingly C's claim arises from a breach of duty or wrong by D (I equate 'wrong' and 'breach of duty'). However, the law does not always seem to reflect the idea that C's claim arises from a wrong by D. For example, sometimes D's supposed primary duty requires D to do something that it is impossible for D to do, or in committing the wrong D's action is something that he is entitled to do. That C's claim can arise without a breach by D of a duty to C, if this is the case, is taken to support the distributive justice approach, since it is taken to imply that the justification for the claim is not a matter of interpersonal justice between C and D.

Primary and Remedial Relations

C's claim is a right to a remedy. The remedy is what the court requires from D for the benefit of C at the conclusion of the proceedings (if C is successful), typically an order for compensation, but sometimes an order to perform or not to perform an action, ie an injunction or order of specific performance.

It is convenient to distinguish between the primary relation and the remedial relation. The primary relation subsists before the claim arises, and it determines the circumstances in which a claim will arise. In negligence, the primary relation is the duty of care and the correlative right, and in contract it is the duty of performance and the correlative right. The remedial relation is the claim – the right to a remedy – correlated with a remedial duty or liability, which arises when D commits a breach of duty.

The relationship between primary and remedial relations is unclear: do the right to a remedy, and the type of remedy to which C is entitled, follow directly and logically from the primary right, so that they are in effect already implicit in the primary right, or are they independent of the primary right and dependent on a new set of considerations, which form the basis for a distinct body of remedial rules? These are the rival positions sometimes described as remedial monism and dualism. One can find support for both approaches in the case law and literature. The claim for compensation is generally understood to follow automatically in the event of a breach of duty, but the availability of specific performance or an injunction is often taken to depend on a new set of considerations, and is sometimes understood to be a matter for judicial discretion.

This issue is related to another contentious issue: why does a right to compensation arise at all? It is often said that the justification is the principle of moral responsibility that a wrongdoer should correct the wrong, but this seems unsatisfactory because it is implausible to think that D is generally morally responsible for the harm for which D is legally liable in private law. Indeed, as mentioned already, it is open to question whether a claim generally arises from a wrong by D at all.

The uncertainty over how remedies, and in particular the right to compensation, arise from primary rights, and about whether, or in what sense, claims arise from wrongs, raises doubts about the traditional understanding of private law and difficulties for the corrective justice approach.

Remedies not Sanctions (or Other Non-remedial Responses)

Any measure ordered by the court at the conclusion of proceedings may be described as a remedy, but it is helpful to distinguish between remedies in the strict sense, and non-remedial responses, including sanctions. A remedy in the strict sense is a measure that serves to protect C's primary right by mitigating or reversing so far as possible the effects of the infringement of C's right, typically by compensating C for the harm C has suffered. By contrast, a sanction serves the public interest by protecting not C's primary right but the rights of others in the same position as C in the future, through the effect of the sanction on D in deterring other people in a comparable position to D from committing a similar wrong, and possibly also by incentivising people in a comparable position to C to take proceedings to secure a sanction.

The traditional position is that private law provides remedies in this strict sense rather than sanctions. In particular, compensation is understood as a remedy in this sense. It seems natural to understand civil proceedings as designed in this way to enable C to protect C's own primary right by securing a remedy. This reflects the corrective justice idea that the legal relations of private law reflect underlying interpersonal moral rights, since a remedy simply serves to protect C's right against D. On the corrective justice approach, there is thus a close connection between the bilateral character and the remedial character of private law. This is why the expression 'corrective justice' is apt for what it might seem preferable to refer to as the 'interpersonal justice' approach. This is not to say that remedies do not actually operate to influence people's behaviour in the future, but on this view that is not their rationale. This understanding is consistent with the fact that punitive damages as a response to a wrong are not normally available. Punitive damages are clearly not a remedy: what C receives through a punitive measure is merely incidental so far as its rationale is concerned, and it is a windfall to C.

On the distributive justice approach, under which private law is justified in terms of its effect on society at large and not in terms of bilateral moral rights, it would seem that the measures dispensed by courts should be understood in terms of their effect as sanctions in influencing the behaviour of people generally, rather than as remedies in the strict sense. On this understanding, even compensation may be understood as a sanction rather than a remedy.²

² A measure can be non-remedial without being a sanction, eg a measure intended to provide compensation through loss spreading, as considered in ch 4.

Objectivity

Traditional private law is 'objective' or impersonal in its characterisation of individuals. It judges each person under a 'reasonable person' standard with respect to what that person is expected to do or know or how that person will be affected by harms or benefits, regardless of individual strengths and weaknesses. The law of negligence turns on whether D reached a 'reasonable person' standard, which does not depend on what D is personally capable of or knows or intends. Similarly, in contract, the test of agreement is whether the parties would be understood by a reasonable observer to have reached agreement and the contract terms are generally understood as a reasonable observer would have understood them, irrespective of the parties' true intentions or actual knowledge or understanding.

This may be thought justified because it treats people, at least in a sense, as equals – this is the position taken on the corrective justice approach – but, at the same time, for private law not to differentiate between people according to their actual intentions or knowledge or their actual strengths or weaknesses may seem to involve a crude approximation, or even a fiction.

Focus on the Particular Parties

On the traditional understanding, which reflects the corrective justice approach, the rules of private law appear to be generally concerned only with the particular interaction and the particular parties' relationship and their interests. They do not generally depend on the wider ramifications of the interaction or on the effects of that type of interaction across society. The standard of care in negligence is traditionally understood to reflect a balance between C's interest against suffering harm and D's interest in freely conducting the activity that gave rise to the harm, rather than on what would be best to reduce accidents and accident costs across society more widely. In contract, it is the interests of the contracting parties in making and performing the contract that are relevant, not the public interest in the practice of contracting. This feature of the law is expressed in various ways. It is sometimes said, particularly in connection with the law of negligence, that the law is concerned with matters of interpersonal justice or rights rather than with matters of community welfare or social goals or the common good or the public interest. Sometimes it is said, apparently to the same effect, that the law is concerned with principle and not policy or with legal policy and not public policy. The implication is that the law does not draw on 'policy analysis', as it is sometimes described, meaning the analysis of the effects of possible rules across society as a whole, drawing on social and economic theory and knowledge, based on empirical evidence.

This restriction again reflects the corrective justice approach that private law simply gives effect to interpersonal moral rights based on personal morality rather than being concerned with harms and benefits across society more widely. Commentators who favour a version of the distributive justice approach are liable

to suggest that there is no such restriction in private law, or that if there is it ought to be abandoned. In fact, although there does seem to be a limitation in the law along these lines, it does not seem to be as strict as the corrective justice approach would require, and the law does not seem to reflect either the corrective justice approach or the distributive justice approach.

Private Law as Common Law

Private law in its traditional form developed through the common law, by virtue of the authority of the decisions made by judges in adjudication. It appears to have arisen through common law legal reasoning by precedent and analogy and to be distinctive of the common law. It seems that analogical reasoning, where the court decides a case in the same way as a previous case that is considered equivalent, is supportive of the corrective justice approach because it involves a focus on the interaction and the parties' relationship, and excludes policy analysis. Proponents of EAL and the distributive justice approach are liable to think that traditional common law reasoning is misguided insofar as it hinders the development of the law to give effect to distributive justice.³ When the legislature legislates to reform private law, it draws on distributive justice. It does not, of course, use common law reasoning to decide on the content of the legislation, and it can certainly use policy analysis. Law created by legislation may not show the characteristic features of traditional private law. In particular, it may not even take the form of bilateral relations – for example, negligence law might be replaced by a form of public compensation fund for accident victims. Even where the legislature retains bilateral relations, it may abandon other features of traditional private law, for example where it introduces a mandatory regime in contract for the benefit of a sector of the population, on the basis of policy analysis.

It is said that on the corrective justice approach private law is autonomous, in the sense that the interpersonal morality concerning interactions that it draws on is distinct from the political morality of legislation, which is a matter of distributive justice. Thus when judges decide how to develop the law they are not engaging in the same sort of exercise as the legislature when it decides how to reform private law. On the distributive justice approach, there is no such distinction in principle between judicial development and legislative reform. It seems to be generally accepted, even by proponents of the corrective justice approach who think that judges should preserve private law in its traditional form in the common law, that it is legitimate and even desirable for the legislature to reform the law to promote distributive justice in this way, but it is not clear that this is a consistent position.

³ See eg L Kaplow and S Shavell, Fairness versus Welfare (Harvard University Press, 2006) ch II.

The Corrective Justice and Distributive Justice Approaches

The main source of theoretical disagreement over private law is between the distributive justice and corrective justice approaches. The corrective justice approach tends to support traditional private law and purports to account, on the whole, for the characteristic features identified above, in particular bilateral relations. It treats the justice of private law as a matter of interpersonal justice or interpersonal moral rights as against each other of the individuals involved in an interaction, and it holds that in consequence a claim arises from a breach of duty or wrong that gives rise to a remedy in the strict sense to protect C's right. It appears to explain the focus on the parties' relationship and the exclusion of other considerations, and it appears to accord with traditional common law legal reasoning. The distributive justice approach by contrast rejects the idea that the bilateral relations of private law are based on interpersonal moral rights and tends to regard the other features of traditional private law as artificial. It accepts the possibility that justice might be better achieved in some other way that does not conform to traditional private law and may not even involve bilateral relations.

The two rival approaches have quite different visions of private law. Although they do not necessarily lead to different outcomes in particular cases, in some cases the differences emerge explicitly. Over time the two approaches would tend to take private law in quite different directions.

In modern times, the theoretical controversy over private law seems to have begun with the emergence of EAL, which prompted the development of modern corrective justice theory by way of response, broadly with the aim of vindicating the traditional understanding of private law. Corrective justice theory was developed principally with respect to tort law and negligence in particular,⁴ and the equivalent reaction to EAL in contract was 'contract as promise',⁵ which I treat as a version of the corrective justice approach.

Both the corrective justice and the distributive justice approaches are thought by their opponents to have serious if not overwhelming problems. Proponents of the corrective justice approach tend to reject the distributive justice approach on the ground that it fails to account for private law, that is to say it makes prescriptions about what the law should be but these conflict with what we actually find in private law and legal reasoning in private law. Proponents of the distributive justice approach, in particular EAL, seem to be attracted by its arguments about what the law should be, irrespective of whether it provides a good account of traditional private law, or instead implies that reform of private law is required. They may take the view that the characteristic features of traditional private law are indefensible

⁴ In particular, EJ Weinrib, *The Idea of Private Law* (Oxford University Press, rev edn 2012).

⁵ In particular, C Fried, Contract as Promise (Oxford University Press, 2nd edn 2015).